3-3-2016

Barrett v. Hecla Min. Co. Appellant's Brief Dckt. 43639

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the case.

This case arises from a rockburst which occurred on December 14, 2011 at the Lucky Friday mine in Mullan, Idaho. This rockburst resulted in injury to seven miners, including the Plaintiffs, Ronnel E. Barrett, Gregg Hammerberg, Eric J. Tester, and Matthew Williams (hereinafter "the Miners") who were working in the area of the 5900 level pillar at the Lucky Friday mine. On December 11, 2013, the Miners filed the complaint in this manner alleging knowing, intentional, willful and wanton injury to the Miners, respondeat superior liability against Hecla, and intentional infliction of emotional distress.

B. Course of Trial Court Proceedings and Disposition.

On December 11, 2013, the Miners filed the Complaint and Demand for Jury Trial in this matter, setting forth causes of action for knowing, intentional, willful and wanton injury to the Miners, respondeat superior liability against Hecla, and intentional infliction of emotional distress. R. Vol 1, pp. 18-40. The Miners alleged that Defendant Hecla Mining Company and the individual Defendants (hereinafter "Hecla") had knowingly, intentionally, willfully and wantonly injured them by assigning them to work in a location that was extremely dangerous without informing the Miners of the dangerous conditions. *Id.* Lastly, the Miners' Complaint alleged that Hecla had intentionally caused them to suffer severe emotional distress. *Id.*

On May 29, 2015, Hecla filed a Motion for Summary Judgment ("MSJ") seeking dismissal of the Miners' claims. *See* R. Vol. 1, p. 146. On June 15, 2015, the Miners filed a motion for partial summary judgment seeking a ruling from the District Court that the exclusive

liability provisions of the Idaho Workers' Compensation Act did not apply to the Miners' claims. *See R.*, Vol. 3, p. 728. After oral argument, the District Court granted Hecla's motion for summary judgment on August 28, 2015, setting forth its reasoning in its Memorandum Decision and Order Granting Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment and Denying Plaintiffs' Motion for Partial Summary Judgment ("Decision"). *See R.* Vol. 5, p. 1148. As set forth in the District Court's Decision, the motion for summary judgment was granted because of the District Court's determination that the exclusive liability provision of the Idaho Workers' Compensation Act § 72-209(3) did apply because there was no evidence that Hecla intended to injure the Miners. *See R.* Vol. 5, pp.1158-59.

Judgment was entered in favor of Hecla on September 17, 2015. *See R.* Vol. 5, p. 1161. The Miners timely filed the Notice of Appeal in this matter on October 5, 2015. *See R.* Vol. 5, p. 1163.

C. Statement of Facts.

1. The 5900 Pillar at the Lucky Friday Mine has a history of rockbursts and Hecla knew the pillar was unstable.

The Coeur D'Alene mining district has a long history of rock burst activity that was well known within in the district and to any company mining within the district. *See R.* Vol. 1, p. 191 (Deposition of Wilson Blake ("Blake Depo."), p. 33, LL 18-25). The Lucky Friday Mine was particularly susceptible to rock bursts given its high quartzite rock properties. *See R.* Vol. 1, pp. 190-191 (Blake Depo., p. 29, line 19 – p. 34, line 21). Since 2009, the mine had experienced a

sharp increase in the number of violent seismic events. *See* R. Vol. 1, pp. 193-194 (Blake Depo., p. 41, line 20 – p. 42, line 18); R. Vol. 1, p. 224 (Email dated April 4, 2011).

Wilson Blake, Ph.D is a geotechnical and consulting mine consultant who holds a Ph.D in mining engineering. Dr. Blake has specialized knowledge in rock mechanics. *See* R. Vol. 1, p. 191 (Blake Depo, p. 31, LL 7-17). Rock mechanics is the science of the behavior of openings under different loading conditions, including open pits and underground mining. *See* R. Vol. 1, p. 191 (Blake Depo., p. 31, LL 18-24). Since 2006, Dr. Blake, as a consultant for Hecla, had been warning Hecla management about the danger of leaving a drift pillar at the 5900 level of the Lucky Friday mine. *See* R. Vol. 1, p. 193; pp. 197-198 (Blake Depo., p. 39, line 14 - p. 41, line 19; p. 55, line 5 – p. 59, line 8). Specifically, Dr. Blake had informed Hecla that a majority of rock burst activity in the 5900 level area occurred within pillars and that, at some point, the pillar was going to be a serious issue for Hecla. Hecla proceeded with mining that area anyway. *See* R. Vol. 1, p. 193; 197-198 (Blake Depo., p. 39, line 22 to p. 40, line 11; p. 55, line 5 – p. 59, line 8).

Hecla had been seismic monitoring, stress monitoring and closure monitoring at certain areas of the Lucky Friday mine since 2006. *See* R. Vol. 1, p. 231 (Deposition of Doug Bayer (“Bayer Depo.”), p. 19, line 21 – p. 20, line 21). Stress monitoring at the 5900 level showed dramatic increases in 2009 to the point where the mine was concerned about pillar failure. The pressures did, however, tend to level out in the subsequent years. *See* R. Vol. 2, p. 263 (Executive Summary dated March 22, 2010, p. iii). Modeling of the 5900 pillar was conducted by Rimas Pilkanis and Associates in 2009. *See* R. Vol. 2, p. 269 (Technical Memorandum dated

March 22, 2010, p. 1). Hecla was unhappy with the results of this modeling and retained Itasca, specifically Mark Board, Ph. D, to do further modeling in the spring of 2010. *See* R. Vol. 1, p. 192 (Blake Depo., p. 34, LL 1-15); R. Vol. 2, p. 269 (Technical Memorandum dated March 22, 2010). The Itasca modeling concluded that the pillar's width/height ratio (which Dr. Board calculated at 10:1 given the 100 foot height of the pillar at that time) supported the conclusion that the pillar could expect small perimeter failure at the pillar but that the core of the pillar would remain elastic enough to handle the stress placed upon it unless the width/height ratio were to change. *See* R. Vol. 2, p. 269 (Technical Memorandum dated March 22, 2010, p. 1); R. Vol. 3, p. 505 (November 25, 2011 Blake Memo, p. 2).

Dr. Blake had been consulting for Hecla since 1975 and Hecla was a major client of his. *See* R. Vol. 1, p. 186; 192 (Blake Depo., p. 11, LL 10-12; p. 35, line 2 – p. 36, line 5; p. 36, LL 19-23; p. 37, LL 17-22). Each time there was an incident at the Lucky Friday mine, Hecla would call Dr. Blake to consult. *See* R. Vol. 1, p. 192 (Blake Depo., p. 36, LL 6-18). Hecla did not employ a rock mechanics engineer prior to the December 14, 2011 rockburst and relied primarily on Dr. Blake's expertise. *See* R. Vol. 1, p. 230 (Bayer Depo., p. 14, line 22 – p. 15, line 3; p. 15, LL 11-16). Mine superintendent Doug Bayer testified that he did not consider himself to be a specialist in rock mechanics. *See* R. Vol. 1, p. 230 (Bayer Depo., p. 14, LL 19-21).

2. A major rockburst occurred on November 16, 2011 further compromising stability at the 5900 pillar.

On November 16, 2011 a major rock burst occurred which caused substantial damage up to the 5700 drift pillar effectively closing that pillar. The burst further caused damage at the

5900 pillar involving large slabs of rock falling from the roof of the pillar, left no fragmented rock or dust consistent with a strain or pillar failure at the 5900 level, left all of the walls of the 5900 level pillar intact and still carrying substantial loads, and left clear evidence of a fault slip at the 5700 level of the mine. *See* R. Vol. 1, pp. 199; 201; 202-203; 208 (Blake Depo., p. 64, line 22 – p. 65, line 7; p. 71, line 25 – p. 72, line 10; p. 72, line 17 – p. 73, line 5; p. 77, line 11 – p. 78, line 15; p. 98, LL 8-15). Dr. Blake sent an e-mail on November 17, 2011 after inspecting the 5900 pillar in which he stated that the damage at the 5900 pillar was consistent with a fault slip. *See* R. Vol. 1, pp. 208; 209 (Blake Depo., p. 101, LL 4-16; p. 103, line 6- 104, line 10); R. Vol. 2, p. 306 (E-mail dated November 17, 2011).

a. The 5900 level pillar was at its maximum unconfined strength.

Dr. Blake authored a memo, dated November 25, 2011, in which he indicated that the vertical and horizontal stress at the 5900 pillar leading up to the November 16, 2011 burst was “very near the unconfined compressive strength of the pillar.” *See* R. Vol. 3, p. 506 (Memo dated November 25, 2011, p. 2). Hecla instructed Dr. Blake to send a draft of his report to Doug Bayer, the mine superintendent, before preparing a final draft because the report would ultimately be provided to the Mine Safety and Health Administration (MSHA) who was investigating the November 16, 2011 burst. *See* R. Vol. 1, pp. 186-187; 212 (Blake Depo., p. 13, line 23 – p. 15, line 7; p. 114, line 21 – p. 115, line 8).

b. The pillar’s walls were “popping,” “cracking” and “spalling.”

Dr. Blake testified that employees of the mine were complaining to him during his visit that the walls of the 5900 pillar were “popping,” “cracking” and “spalling” when they tried to

drive bolts and dywidags into them indicating the walls were carrying substantial stress. He also testified that he believed the shift boss was present when this information was conveyed. *See* R. Vol. 1, pp. 203-204 (Blake Depo., p. 79, line 18 – p. 81, line 22; p. 82, LL 4-25). Employees were unable to get the East wall to take dywidags, so they instead had to drive eight (8) foot split sets into the wall to hold ground support. *See* R. Vol. 4, p. 824 (Affidavit of Rick Valerio, ¶ 8); R. Vol. 1, p. 261 (Bayer Depo., p. 139, LL 9-20). Hecla used a “jumbo” to drill the bores for monitoring gauges because it allowed them to be a sufficient distance from the wall during the drilling. The Geokon manual for the stress monitors states that the holes should be diamond drilled, not drilled from a jumbo. *See* R. Vol. 1, pp. 229-230 (Bayer Depo., p. 12, LL 14-23; p. 13, line 21 – p. 14, line 5).

Dr. Blake issued a report on November 18, 2011, after Bayer’s review, which states that the cause of the burst was a “strain burst” and that it could not be assumed that the pillar was de-stressed based on the fact that the upper ribs and back appeared to be solid. *See* R. Vol. 1, p.210 (Blake Depo., p. 106, line 19 – p. 107, line 15); R. Vol. 2, p. 309 (Report dated November 18, 2011). Dr. Blake testified that one could not have expected much if any energy or strain release at the 5900 pillar if it was concluded that the burst was a fault slip at the 5700 level. *See* R. Vol. 1, p. 201 (Blake Depo., p. 71, line 9 – p. 72, line 10).

c. The dimensions of the pillar rendered it a serious risk of complete failure.

Dr. Blake testified that, based on his prior research at the Galena mine in the same district and with similar rock properties to the Lucky Friday mine, he published a doctoral thesis on the

relationship between pillar size and complete pillar failure in that area. *See* R. Vol. 1, p. 196 (Blake Depo., p. 53, LL 7-16); R. Vol. 2, p. 312 (Study). Dr. Blake testified that the conclusion he drew from his research was that 8-10 foot wide pillars that were 40 feet or less in height were at serious risk of complete failure due to their inability to carry a sufficient load. Dr. Blake testified that when a pillar is smaller than 40 feet in height, you can expect rockbursting. *See* R. Vol. 1, pp. 195-196; 213 (Blake Depo., p. 48, line 16 – p. 52, line 16; p. 119, LL 16-25; p. 121, LL 11-25).

Dr. Blake testified that the November 16, 2011 burst rendered the 5900 pillar to an approximate width/height ratio of 3 or 3.5 to 1. *See* R. Vol. 1, pp. 205-206 (Blake Depo., p. 89, line 4 – p. 90, line 18). As a result, Dr. Blake included a sentence in his draft report on November 25, 2011 that stated the 5900 level pillar was “borderline stable” which, based upon Dr. Blake’s research, was at serious risk of complete failure. *See* R. Vol. 1, p. 213 (Blake Depo., p. 119, line 16 – p. 121, line 25); R. Vol. 3, p. 505 (Memo dated November 25, 2011). Dr. Blake’s memo further advised Hecla to proceed with caution in the rehabilitation process. *See* R. Vol. 3, p. 505 (Memo dated November 25, 2011).

3. *Hecla misrepresented the stability of the pillar to MSHA.*

Despite the express language in Dr. Blake’s draft report, Bayer testified that he did not know the pillar was borderline stable and would not have put miners at the 5900 level pillar had he thought the pillar was borderline stable. *See* R. Vol. 1, p. 251 (Bayer Depo., p. 101, LL 6-8).

Bayer either removed the sentence from the report or requested that Dr. Blake remove it. Dr. Blake testified that he removed the “borderline stable” language at the suggestion of Hecla.

The sentence was not included in the report that was shared with MSHA. *See* R. Vol. 1, pp. 214 (Blake Depo., p. 123, LL 1-19); *see also* R. Vol. 2, p. 301 (Revised Memo dated November 25, 2011). Bayer sent “updates” to MSHA on November 29, December 1, December 2, and December 6, 2011 asking for modifications to the 103k order which had allowed rehabilitation of the 5900 pillar. Ultimately on December 6, 2011, Hecla resumed mining operations at the Gold Hunter vein. Hecla lied to MSHA by stating in its updates that the November 16, 2011 burst de-stressed “a majority” of the pressures at the 5900 level, that stress monitoring readings had “stabilized” and that the mine did not expect “any measurable increase in stress” to occur for weeks if not months. *See* R. Vol. 2, pp. 378-389 (Updates, dated November 29, December 1, December 2, and December 6, 2011); R. Vol. 1, pp. 256-257; 258 (Bayer Depo., p. 121, line 12 – p. 124, line 19; p. 128, line 23 – p. 129, line 17).

Bayer also falsely told MSHA that the stress monitoring information would be reviewed daily by mine personnel and Hecla’s rock mechanics consultant. *See* R. Vol. 1, p. 258 (Bayer Depo., p. 127, LL 21-24). Bayer testified that his statement to MSHA regarding the de-stressing of the 5900 level pillar was based not on Dr. Blake’s statements to him, but rather his own history and experience at the mine. *See* R. Vol. 1, p. 258 (Bayer Depo., p. 129, LL 5-24). Bayer further testified that his statement about the amount of time that it would take the stress to build-up was based not on any statement from Dr. Blake, but rather from his own experience and history. *See* R. Vol. 1, pp. 258-259 (Bayer Depo., p. 129, line 25 – p. 130, line 15). Dr. Blake, however, testified that the 5900 pillar was at its maximum unconfined strength prior to the November 16, 2011 burst; that the fault slip in reality released little, if any, stress from the pillar;

and that stress monitoring readings indicated that pressures increased every reading of every shift of every day between December 2, 2011 and December 14, 2011 (the burst that injured the Miners) resulting in an increase in 1000 psi in just two weeks. *See* R. Vol. 1, pp. 214; 216-217 (Blake Depo., p. 123, line 23 – p. 124, line 22; p. 131, line 18 – p. 134, line 2); R. Vol. 2, pp. 498-500 (Stress Monitoring graph).

Dr. Blake testified that he never told Hecla the information that Doug Bayer was reporting to MSHA regarding the alleged destressing at the 5900 level pillar or the estimate that it would take weeks or months for any measurable increase in stress to occur at the 5900 level pillar. *See* R. Vol. 1, p. 218 (Blake Depo., p. 140, LL 3-6). Dr. Blake specifically testified that he did not tell Doug Bayer or anyone at Hecla that he believed the November 16th burst had dissipated a majority of the stress at the 5900 pillar. *See* R. Vol. 1, pp. 217-218 (Blake Depo., p. 137, LL 6-17; p. 140, LL 3-6). Dr. Blake admitted that Hecla showed him only four to five days of monitoring gauge readings beginning on December 2, 2011. *See* R. Vol. 1, p. 216 (Blake Depo., p. 131, line 22 – p. 132, line 14).

4. One of the stress monitors is defective and Hecla refuses to install the remaining three required monitors.

MSHA's 103k order required Hecla to install six stress monitors at the 5900 level during the rehabilitation process. *See* R. Vol. 2, pp. 477-478. Hecla only installed three of them, one of which was defective. *See* R. Vol. 2, p. 378 (Bayer Depo., p. 55, line 20 – p. 56, line 7). Dr. Blake admitted that negative readings from the East Low gauge clearly were not an accurate reading of stress, that the surrounding rock around the gauge must have crumbled and that he

would expect the stress at the East well to be consistent with the readings at the West Low gauge. *See* R. Vol. 1, p. 217 (Blake Depo., p. 134, line 3 – p. 135, line 18; p. 136, LL 16-23).

Hecla never communicated to MSHA that the East low gauges were improperly installed and were providing inaccurate information. *See* R. Vol. 3, pp. 502-503 (MSHA Citation No. 8559615, dated May 15, 2012). Hecla never did anything to reinstall or check the placement of the East low gauge. *See* R. Vol. 1, pp. 236-238 (Bayer Depo., p. 41, line 14 – p. 46, line 3; p. 46, LL 20-24). Hecla represented to MSHA that it would install three gauges immediately and that an additional three would be installed as soon as received by Hecla which were to be shipped from the manufacturer on December 7, 2011. This requirement was set forth in MSHA's 103k order. *See* R. Vol. 1, pp. 239-240 (Bayer Depo., p. 53, line 24 – p. 54, line 12); R. Vol. 2, pp. 378-379 (November 29, 2011 memo to MSHA). Hecla never installed the three remaining gauges. *See* R. Vol. 2, p. 378 (Bayer Depo., p. 55, line 20 – p. 56, line 7).

5. Hecla lied to MSHA.

Hecla lied to MSHA by submitting a modified November 25, 2011 memo that did not include Dr. Blake's conclusion about the borderline stability of the 5900 level pillar. *See* R. Vol. 1, p. 214 (Blake Depo., p. 122, line 1 – p. 123, line 19); R. Vol. 2, p. 301 (Revised Memo dated November 25, 2011). Hecla lied to MSHA through Bayer's representations regarding the release of stress and stress readings at the 5900 level pillar. *See* R. Vol. 1, pp. 217-218 (Blake Depo., p. 137, LL 6-17; p. 140, LL 3-6); R. Vol. 1, pp. 257; 258-259 (Bayer Depo., p. 123, line 25 – p. 124, line 24; p. 128, line 25 – p. 130, line 15).

6. Hecla lied to its own employees.

Hecla did not allow the Miners to have access to the stress and closure readings. *See* R. Vol. 2, p. 403 (Deposition of John Jordan (“Jordan Depo.”), p. 46, LL 17-23); R. Vol. 4, p. 822 (Affidavit of Rick Valerio). Hecla never informed employees that the November 16, 2011 burst did not relieve stress at the 5900 level pillar. *See* R. Vol. 4, pp. 822; 826; 896 (Affidavits of Matt Williams, Rick Valerio, and Rick Norman). Hecla never told employees that the 5900 level pillar was at its maximum unconfined strength. *See* R. Vol. 4, pp. 822, 826; 896 (Affidavits of Matt Williams, Rick Valerio, and Rick Norman). Hecla never told employees that stress readings showed steady increases in pressures at the 5900 level pillar. *See* R. Vol. 2, p. 448 (Deposition of Scott Hogamier (“Hogamier Depo.”), p. 61, LL 13-20); R. Vol. 4, pp. 822; 826; 896 (Affidavits of Matt Williams, Rick Valerio, and Rick Norman).

Approximately two to three days following the November 16, 2011 burst, Doug Bayer was inspecting the pillar while mine employees were working on it. At that time, he held what was represented to be a report from Wilson Blake and he said to the miners that he knew several of them were concerned about the safety of the pillar but, while waiving the report in the air, he stated the report indicated that “we don’t have to worry about it for at least five years.” *See* R. Vol. 4, p. 824 (Affidavit of Rick Valerio, ¶ 7). As miners were attempting to drill dywidags into the East wall of the pillar, the wall was slipping preventing them from taking hold in the wall. Rick Valerio told Doug Bayer that he believed that there was a fault slip in the East wall of the pillar as the dywidags were not taking in the wall. He looked at Mr. Valerio and, without responding, walked away from him with no response. *See* R. Vol. 4, p. 824 (Affidavit of Rick

Valerio, ¶ 8). When the company began running trucks through the pillar before the rehabilitation was complete, mine employees asked Doug Bayer in his office if the employees driving the trucks should be worried while driving through the pillar. Mr. Bayer's response was that there were no concerns about the safety of the employees while working in or travelling through the pillar. *See* R. Vol. 4, p. 898 (Affidavit of Rick Norman, ¶ 9).

7. *Despite inevitable complete failure of the pillar, Hecla restarts mining operations increasing stress to the pillar.*

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