UIdaho Law Digital Commons @ UIdaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

5-11-2016

Barrett v. Hecla Min. Co. Respondent's Brief Dckt. 43639

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

establish an intention to injure. The district court's decision that Plaintiffs have no facts suggesting an intention to injure was plainly correct. *See infra*, Part III.B.

Court explained, the plaintiff had secured a default judgment against the employer in the district court. *Dominguez*, 142 Idaho at 7. Consequently, the Court held, review of the judgment against the employer "would be improper." *Id.* at 13. The Court explained that "a judgment by default is a final judgment," and "no appeal lies directly from such a ruling." *Id.* at 14. "If a matter was abandoned by the defaulting party and never properly presented to the trial court, there can be no error by the trial court on a question it was never asked to consider." *Id.* Thus, *Dominguez* did not even purport to say anything about whether the facts alleged there satisfied the exception to the Exclusivity Rule; it refused to review of the merits of the defendant's appeal from the default judgment.¹⁷

And even if *Dominguez* did redefine the scope of the exception to the Exclusivity Rule (which it did not), the facts at issue there are far removed from the evidence here. In *Dominguez*, the employer ordered an employee to enter and clean a tank the employer knew contained cyanide sludge. *Dominguez*, 142 Idaho at 9. The employee, Mr. Dominguez, alleged—and the allegation was taken as true because the employer defaulted—that the employer "knew it was hazardous to enter the steel tank, but concealed that fact from Dominguez." *Id.* After entering the tank, Mr. Dominguez collapsed

¹⁷ Plaintiffs argue that *Dominguez* must have spoken to whether the plaintiff's allegations satisfied the exception to the Exclusivity Rule, because, even in the event of a default judgment, the factual allegations "still had to form the basis for a valid claim for relief." (App. Brief p. 24) But in making this argument, Plaintiffs simply ignore what this Court said—namely, that it would not review the merits of the case. Plaintiffs cannot credibly argue that this Court reached a conclusion it did not actually reach. Plaintiffs' reliance on *In re Elias*, 302 B.R. 900 (Bankr. D. Idaho 2003) is even further afield. That decision, from a federal bankruptcy court, involved the same litigants as *Dominguez* and addressed the question whether the judgment of the district court in *Dominguez* was dischargeable in the employer's bankruptcy proceeding. *Id.* at 902. In analyzing that question, the court held that the judgment in *Dominguez* had a preclusive effect on the issue of whether the defendants acted with "an extremely harmful state of mind." *Id.* at 912. It said nothing about this Court's decision in *Dominguez*, which had not even been issued yet.

and lost consciousness. When firefighters arrived to attempt a rescue, the employer "was allegedly uncooperative with rescue and medical workers, refusing to accurately identify the material in the steel tank and thereby hampering Dominguez's rescue and treatment." *Id.* at 10.

Plaintiffs have submitted no evidence of any similar intentional conduct here. They have submitted no evidence that any of the defendants intended to injure anyone, and they have submitted no evidence that any defendant knew a rock burst was imminent. Nor have they offered any evidence that Defendants interfered with rescue efforts. Rather, the uncontested evidence shows that Defendants acted reasonably in trying to address the risk in the 5900 pillar after the initial rock burst in November 2011: They hired an expert consultant, who supported the Rehabilitation Plan, and they obtained MSHA's approval of the Plan as well. That a rock burst occurred, which no one disputes is an unpredictable event, cannot be said to be an existing and imminent hazard equivalent to cyanide sludge trapped in a tank. As a result, even if *Dominguez* was read to broaden the scope of the exception to the Exclusivity Rule, Plaintiffs still could not satisfy it.

4. *Kearney* And *DeMoss* Were Correctly Decided.

In addition to being the settled law of this State and representative of the majority view across the United States, *Kearney* and *DeMoss* were rightly decided. The minority view—the substantial certainty test—would not be faithful to the language of Idaho's worker's compensation law, and also would disturb the balance between employees and employers that is inherent in the worker's compensation system.

First, *Kearney* and *DeMoss* were rightly decided because they were true to the statutory language in the worker's compensation law. The exception to the Exclusivity Rule provides that

employees are not exempt from the Exclusivity Rule unless their injury was caused by "wilful or unprovoked physical aggression." Idaho Code § 72-209(3). Thus, *Kearney* and *DeMoss* were not starting from scratch and considering which rule would be best; they were interpreting the specific language the Legislature used. And the decisions plainly were correct that "wilful or unprovoked physical aggression" indicates intent. As *Kearney* explained, the term "aggression" connotes an affirmative act, such as an "overt hostile attack." *Kearney*, 114 Idaho at 757. It is not possible to commit an overt hostile attack without intent to do so. Thus, *Kearney* and *DeMoss* properly interpreted the language of the worker's compensation law.

Second, *Kearney* and *DeMoss* were rightly decided because adopting the substantial certainty test would disrupt one of the primary rationales for the worker's compensation system. As this Court has explained, one reason for the worker's compensation system is "to provide sure and certain relief for injured workmen ... regardless of fault." *Blake v. Starr*, 146 Idaho 847, 851 (2009). However, that is not the only reason: Another purpose of the system is to provide something in return to employers—"to protect industry by providing a limit on liability." *Id.*; *see also* 9 *Larson's Workers' Compensation Law* § 103.03 (explaining that one of the central purposes to the Exclusivity Rule is "to minimize litigation, even litigation of undoubted merit").

Adopting the substantial certainty test would undo the limits on employer liability including, significantly, the limits on litigation expenses. As a practical matter, in almost any tort case, a plaintiff can allege negligence, gross negligence, or recklessness. The difference between them is not easily resolved without trial. As a result, if recklessness could satisfy the exception to the Exclusivity Rule, the number of lawsuits against employers could rise dramatically, as would the

37

length and cost of each proceeding, because courts would be unable to resolve whether the employer's actions were reckless, or something less, without a trial. Thus, as the Arkansas Supreme Court explained in rejecting the substantial certainty test, "if employers are required not only to provide worker's compensation but also to defend tort actions of employees and to respond in damages for torts, there would be a subversion of the very purpose of the whole workmen's compensation scheme." *Griffin v. George's, Inc.*, 589 S.W.2d 24, 27 (Ark. 1979). For that reason, *Kearney* and *DeMoss* not only correctly implemented the Legislature's intent, but also preserved the compromise on which the worker's compensation system is premised.

B. The District Court Properly Determined That Plaintiffs' Claims Are Barred Because They Have Proffered No Evidence Of A Wilful, Physical Attack.

The district court correctly held that "Plaintiffs' facts do not constitute an act of willful physical aggression." (R. Vol. 5, p. 1158) *Kearney* and *DeMoss* are dispositive of Plaintiffs' claims here, for Plaintiffs have submitted no evidence whatsoever of any physical attack with intent to injure. Thus, as in *Kearney*, even if Defendants' actions made it substantially certain that injury would occur by implementing the Rehabilitation Plan—which, to be clear, there is no evidence of—that would not be enough. And, as in *DeMoss*, even if Defendants knew the 5900 pillar was unsafe—which, again, there is no evidence of—that is not enough. Rather, this Court has been clear: The exception to the Exclusivity Rule applies *only* when an employer or its agents physically attack an employee with intent to injure him. *Kearney*, 114 Idaho at 757 (a defendant must "wilfully or without provocation physically and offensively or hostilely attacked the employee"). There is no evidence of that here, and not even any allegation of it. Plaintiffs have presented no evidence that Defendants physically

attacked them, or had any intention to injure them.¹⁸ Rather, at best for Plaintiffs, they suggest that Defendants put Plaintiffs in a situation they knew to involve risk. But, even if Plaintiffs' story were true (and, to be clear, it is not), that would be insufficient under the worker's compensation law and this Court's precedent interpreting it.

1. The Risk Of A Pillar Failure Is Irrelevant Because There Was No Pillar Failure, And Even If There Was, Sending Miners To The Pillar To Address The Risk Would Not Be A Physical Attack With Intent To Injure.

Most of Plaintiffs' story focuses on what Plaintiffs assert were known risks of the 5900 pillar failing. (App. Brief pp. 2-13, 29-32) Plaintiffs argue that Defendants were aware of increased stress readings from the pillar's stress gauges, and that Dr. Blake concluded that the pillar was near its unconfined compressive strength and was only borderline stable. (*Id.* at 2-13, 33-34) Plaintiffs' argument is insufficient.

¹⁸ Plaintiffs do offer the affidavits of two experts, who opine that Defendants' conduct was "willful" and with "deliberate intent." (App. Brief pp. 35-38) Such "expert" opinions are plainly inadmissible, even on a motion for summary judgment. As this Court explained in Athay v. Stacey, 142 Idaho 360 (2005), an expert's opinions regarding mental state are inadmissible. Specifically, in Athay the Court considered an expert's opinion that the defendants' conduct constituted "reckless disregard." Id. at 366. The Court held the opinion inadmissible for two reasons: First, "there is no indication that the expert knew the standard in Idaho for reckless disregard." Id. at 367. Rather, "[w]ithout defining what he understood the standard to be, he simply stated several times throughout his affidavits that the [defendants'] conduct constituted reckless disregard." Id. Second, "reckless disregard includes the element that the [defendant] actually perceived the high degree of manifest danger and continued his course of conduct." Id. "The [plaintiffs'] expert is no more qualified than the average juror to draw conclusions from the evidence regarding what any of the Defendants actually perceived or understood." Id. at 368. Here, Plaintiffs' experts' opinions are foreclosed by both of Athay's reasons. First, Plaintiffs' experts opined on the relevant legal standard without any indication they understand what the standard means. Second, Plaintiffs' experts are no more qualified to draw conclusions from the evidence about intent than a jury would be. As a result, Plaintiffs' experts' affidavits cannot be considered.

First, the risk of pillar failure cannot satisfy the exception to the Exclusivity Rule because the 5900 pillar did not fail, and so did not cause Plaintiffs' injuries. *See supra* at 11. The exception to the Exclusivity Rule is satisfied only where the wilful or unprovoked physical aggression "proximately caused" the employee's injury. Idaho Code § 72-209(3). Thus, because Plaintiffs were not injured by a pillar failure, Defendants' actions with regard to a risk of pillar failure cannot satisfy the statute.

Second, Plaintiffs' allegation that Defendants were aware of a risk of pillar failure, but sent Plaintiffs to do rehabilitation work anyway, is not a physical attack that could satisfy the statute. Indeed, in *Kearney*, the employer directed the employee to use a lawn mower that it (allegedly) knew to be dangerous. *See supra* at 21-22. Although it had ready access to additional safety equipment that it could have installed on the mower to mitigate the risk, the employer did not do so. *Id.* However, even though the employee was then injured by the very risks that the employer neglected to address, the Court held that the exception to the Exclusivity Rule was not satisfied, because there was no physical and offensive or hostile attack against the employee. *Kearney*, 114 Idaho at 757.

Similarly, in *DeMoss*, the employer first sent employees to work with what it knew might be asbestos. It made no effort to investigate an employee's suspicion that it was asbestos. *See supra* at 22-23. Then, after the employer received confirmation of asbestos, it again sent the employees to work with the material—this time *knowing* it was asbestos, lying to the employees by telling them it was something harmless, and providing the employees with minimal safety clothing (paper coveralls and masks). *Id.* Again, although the employer was alleged to have sent employees into a known risky situation, and even lied about it, the Court held that the exception to the Exclusivity Rule was not

satisfied, because there was "no showing of unprovoked physical aggression, as required by I.C. § 72-209(3)." *DeMoss*, 118 Idaho at 178.

At best for Plaintiffs, the same is true here. Even if Plaintiffs' allegations are correct (which, as shown above, they are not), there is no evidence that Defendants committed a physical attack on Plaintiffs, let alone they did so with intent to injure them. Under *Kearney* and *DeMoss*, directing an employee into a situation that is known to involve risk does not satisfy the statute.

Finally, Plaintiffs cannot rely on statements by Hecla's consultant while ignoring other statements. Dr. Blake was clear that (1) "the occurrence of another large burst in this pillar is unlikely"; and (2) that the Rehabilitation Plan should proceed, and that "[t]he ground support installed during rehabilitation of the 5900 pillar will contain the damage from any further small bursts that might be induced by continuing closure." (R. Vol. 2, p. 304 (Blake Report)) Plaintiffs cannot have it both ways: They cannot rely on Dr. Blake's assessment that the 5900 pillar presented some risk, but disregard his conclusion that the way to address that risk was the very Rehabilitation Plan that Plaintiffs were implementing when they were injured. When considered in context, it is clear that Hecla received expert advice that it should proceed with the Rehabilitation Plan.

2. Conducting Mining Activities Is Not A Physical Attack With Intent To Injure.

As explained above, the evidence demonstrates that Hecla's mining activities between the first and second phases of the Rehabilitation Plan did not cause the December 14 rock burst. *See supra* at 11. But, even if they did, that would not satisfy the exception to the Exclusivity Rule because even Plaintiffs do not allege that Hecla engaged in mining activities *intending* to injure them. At best for Plaintiffs, Hecla engaged in mining activities despite the additional risk those activities created. Taking actions with the knowledge that those actions create risk of injuring employees does not satisfy the statutory test. The statute requires that the employer's action be a physical attack with "an intention to injure the employee." *Kearney*, 114 Idaho at 758. Plaintiffs cannot credibly argue—and they do not argue—that Hecla's mining, at locations other than the 5900 pillar, and stopping a day before Plaintiffs were injured, was intended to injure Plaintiffs. They argue only that the blasting increased the risk of injury to them. That is insufficient under the statute, as explained in *Kearney* and *DeMoss*.

3. Lying To Employees And To MSHA Would Not Constitute A Physical Attack With Intent To Injure.

Throughout their brief, Plaintiffs accuse Defendants of lying, both to Plaintiffs and to MSHA. (App. Brief pp. 7-12) Again, Defendants strenuously contest these allegations—and contest that there is any support in the record for Plaintiffs' assertion. *See supra* at 14-16. But even if Plaintiffs are correct, the allegations would not satisfy the exception to the Exclusivity Rule.

First, lying to MSHA is wholly irrelevant. In no way could that constitute an offensive or hostile physical attack on Plaintiffs. This is true primarily because lying to MSHA does not involve Plaintiffs. But it is also true because it is not a physical action, and it is not an attack.

Second, lying to Plaintiffs themselves would not satisfy the statute either, because it would not constitute a physical attack. For instance, in *DeMoss*, the employer eventually tested the substance insulating the boiler and determined that it was indeed asbestos. *See supra* at 22-23. After it received the results indicating that the substance was asbestos, a supervisor still told the employees that the

substance was harmless and sent them back to work with it. *Id.* That allegation was determined not to satisfy the statute in *DeMoss*, because it did "not rise to the level of 'unprovoked physical aggression." *DeMoss*, 118 Idaho at 179. The same would be true here, even if Plaintiffs' allegations are correct (which they are not).

IV. CONCLUSION

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